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NO UNDERTAKINGS ENTERED DURING THIS HEARING

Monday, September 19, 2005


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:03 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  Today is the twenty-first day of the hearing of applications EB‑2005-0001 and

EB-2005-0437 submitted by Enbridge Gas Distribution.  This morning we will hear submissions on the intervenors' request that 2005 actual and 2005 and 2006 pro forma financial statements of CustomerWorks Limited and Enbridge Commercial Services be filed in this hearing.  


Could I take appearances, please, before we begin?


APPEARANCES:

MS. COLE:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  My name is Avril Cole, and I'm a student‑at‑law with Macleod Dixon LLP, and I'm actually here on behalf of Lisa DeMarco to provide the position of Superior Energy Management on this motion.  I hope to read a statement of position into the record after the intervenors that are bringing this motion and the intervenors that are making submissions in support have done the same.


Superior will generally be supporting the production of the CWLP and ECSI documents.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Ms. Cole, was it?


MS. COLE:  Yes, Avril.


MS. NOWINA:  Can you spell it?


MS. COLE:  A-V-R-I-L.


MS. NOWINA:  Your last name?


MS. COLE:  C-O-L-E.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Others?  The usual?


MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair.  I thought by now you would have been so tired of looking at me.


MS. NOWINA:  I can see here, Mr. Warren, you're sitting at the front and I assume you're going to make a submission, but I would like to get them all.


MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the Consumers Council of Canada.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. DeROSE:  Good morning.  Vince DeRose, IGUA.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.


MS. SIMS:  Margaret Sims for CustomerWorks.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Sims.


MS. KANNER:  I'm Ava Kanner for Accenture.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry?


MS. KANNER:  A-V-A, Kanner, K-A-N-N-E-R, and I'm here on behalf of Accenture and we will be seeking an adjournment of this morning's motion.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Kanner.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  I apologize for being late.  John DeVellis for Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, Jay Shepherd on behalf of School Energy Association.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. DINGWALL:  Madam Chair, good morning.  Brian Dingwall on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  Fred Cass for Enbridge Gas Distribution, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  And Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Are there any preliminary matters?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MS. KANNER:  Madam Chair, I would consider the request for the adjournment a preliminary matter.


MS. NOWINA:  As would I.  


MS. KANNER:  Thank you.  We received notification of this motion late last week.  I believe it was actually on Friday afternoon that we became aware of it.  Mr. Howe, who actually acts for Accenture, has appeared on this ‑‑ on a related issue before this panel before, is unable to attend today's hearing as a result of court commitments.


He asks that this matter be adjourned until Thursday, and I believe he has canvassed some of the counsel who are present in order to ascertain their availability on Thursday.  And it is my understanding that they are available on Thursday.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Kanner.  That's your submission on that matter?  


MS. KANNER:  Those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Do any other parties have a submission on the adjournment?  


MS. SIMS:  Yes, I do, in support on of the adjournment request, Margaret Sims for CustomerWorks.  We also received notification of this late in the week, or first heard of the issue on Thursday afternoon, and then on Friday around noon when it was set down.  I myself have another commitment which I've absented myself from this morning to be here this morning.  But if it was at all possible, I would prefer that ‑‑ I'm available on Thursday morning and could re-attend then to address the matter.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Sims.  Anyone else have a submission on the adjournment?  Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  To the Board's surprise, I do have a submission, and to a certain extent ‑‑ I'm not going to reiterate our submissions on Friday, but it is clear that the company, at least -- and it is the company that has the obligation to file evidence in this matter, not CWLP or Accenture, of course.  The company had notice of this matter long ago, months ago, and had specific notice that this matter would be raised last week on Monday, on Tuesday, by letter from Mr. Thompson on Wednesday, and then again on Thursday by discussion before the Board.


It's no longer appropriate for the company's affiliates or Accenture, for that matter, which is their business partner, to say, Sorry, we're not ready yet.  It's time for them to be ready.  Those are our submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Anyone else?


MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, we do oppose the request for an adjournment.  The Board, I thought, was crystal clear on Friday, was absolutely unambiguous that this matter was going to be argued this morning.  I have every sympathy for Ms. Sims' position, but she comes from a substantial‑sized firm and could have instructed someone else to argue this matter this morning.


Mr. Howe is fully familiar with the issues and, to the extent that Accenture has an interest, he could have briefed his colleague to make the submissions this morning.


Waiting until Thursday morning puts all of us, but in particular Mr. Shepherd, who has charge of the financial cross‑examining on the financial matters, in a box.  And in my respectful submission, there's simply no plausible excuse why, or no plausible reason why this thing should be put off to Thursday.  Everybody's ready to go, and we should do it this morning.   Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Any further submissions?  Mr. Dingwall?


MR. DINGWALL:  Very briefly, I again agree with the positions of my friends.  I'm also noting with some curiosity that ECSI is not represented in this matter, and I'm not sure what we can derive from that, but it seems to be of interest.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Mr. DeRose?


MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  IGUA would also oppose the adjournment.  In our submission, Friday effectively was an adjournment, and they've now had the weekend.  This matter simply has to proceed.  This hearing is going on quite a long time, and it's in the interest of the public to make sure that this hearing comes to a timely conclusion, and we're all working towards that.  


And we're all at various times -- both the intervenors, the company and the Board, we've been working long hours.  We've been doing everything we can to keep this moving, and, in our submission, in that spirit, we should keep moving today and hear these matters this morning.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Madam Chair, VECC also opposes the adjournment and for the same reasons already stated by my colleagues.  I'd also note that the only reason we're here today is that not proceeding today or proceeding on Thursday would present significant scheduling difficulties for the Board.  So as I've already stated, it was clear to everyone, I think, that we were going to proceed today, and we think that we should.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.


Further submissions?  You'll just bear with us for a moment. 


[The Board confers]


MS. NOWINA:  While understanding the scheduling difficulties of some, it's our view that all the parties are represented today, that delaying this matter would cause a significant scheduling problem for this proceeding, which has been lengthy enough, and we will hear the matter this morning.


Ms. Sims, we do have a question for you.  We had asked on Friday that CWLP provide a synopsis of their position for today.  Have we received that synopsis? 


MS. SIMS:  And I actually did prepare an e‑mail that sent ‑‑ prepared a synopsis and sent it out, but I will need to verify.  If it wasn't received by others, then ‑‑ I confess I was tied up all weekend, so I did not verify to see whether there was an issue, but I did send out -- but simply sending out that our issues were that this issue was dealt with back on Motions Day; that it wasn't ‑‑ that it was an issue of whether it was relevant, and then we'd have submissions on confidentiality.  


So my synopsis was that.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Sims.  Well, whether or not others received it at this point, I guess, is a bit of a moot point, and we will proceed this morning.    

I had, then, Ms. Kanner.  I assume that, since we've decided not to adjourn, do you also wish to make a submission on the substance of the matter?  

MS. KANNER:  Yes, but it will be rather short, I imagine.   

MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.  Thank you.

Do parties have a desired order of proceeding, in terms of hearing submissions?  

All right, Mr. DeRose.  We will begin with you.   

MR. DeROSE:  I believe Mr. Warren was actually going to take the lead on that, so I should have spoken up, if that's fine, Madam Chair?   

MS. NOWINA:  That's fine. 

MOTION TO PRODUCE FINANCIAL DOCUMENTS:

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN:  

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, the submissions on behalf of my client are brief.  It was in our interrogatory number 192, which is Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 192, in which the request for the financial statements of ECGI and CWLP for 2004 and the pro forma financial statements for 2005 and 2006 be filed.

The rationale for the request is set out at some length in the preamble to the interrogatory, and I don't propose to repeat it this morning.   

The essence of the request is that the question of the earnings of the various affiliates, those who are, if I can characterize it this way, in the "food chain" of the customer care provision, is relevant information for the determination of whether or not the costs which are being paid by ECGI are fair, and therefore the rates which are being paid are fair.   

The starting point for this request, ultimately, is the Board's decision in RP-2001-0032.  If I could ask the Board to turn up IGUA's pre-filed evidence, and at the first two tabs of it, there are –- the first tab contains excerpts from the 2001-0032 decision, with reasons.    

I don't, for the record, know what exhibit number has been given to the IGUA evidence.   

MS. NOWINA:  That would be L-11, I believe.  Yes, 

L-11.   

MR. WARREN:  In Exhibit L-11, at tab 1, IGUA has included excerpts from the RP-2001-0032 decision.  And I'd ask the Board to turn to what is marked as page 161 of that decision, and in particular, paragraph 5.11.25.   

Now, this decision, Madam Chair, and Members of the Panel, was the first one in which the Board had to try and untie the Gordian knot of the relationships among the service providers, the related companies, which in retrospect, at the time, seemed to mark a model of simplicity, in light of what's happened since.  But I'm going to quote from paragraph or section 5.11.25.

It says:
     
"In the past, the Board has closely examined

ECG's arrangements to enter into discreet

contracts with unrelated third parties to provide

services such as pipeline construction and

appliance inspection.  However, as the Board has

previously noted, due to the extent and nature of

the services being outsourced, the Board has a

number of concerns with respect to ECG’s

outsourcing arrangements.  The Board expects ECG” - and I underscore the following words – 

“and all of its affiliates to co-operate fully

with the Board and intervenors to provide all

necessary information to enable the Board to

continue proper regulatory oversight of the

utility."

Now, I underscore the words "to enable the Board

to continue proper regulatory oversight of the utility," because this is not simply a little dust-up between the intervenors and certain other parties about what is or is not relevant from a particular perspective on a particular day.  The larger issue is:  What information is required in order for the Board to determine, among this complex relationship -- this complex relationship among various related parties, whether or not ratepayers are paying too much for the customer care services.

Now, in the following case, which was the RP-2002-0133 decision with reasons, this was the case that, the Board may recollect, was one that required my client and Mr. DeRose's client and Mr. DeVellis' client to bring certain motions in order to compel the production of information.  And in section 7 of that -- this appears at tab 2 of Exhibit L-11.  In section 7, the Board recites the facts of those motions, which were, I think it a modest understatement on my part to say they were bitterly contested.  And the Board describes in this section its approach to the question of disclosure.  I'd ask the Board to turn up paragraph 899 in that decision, which was the last page of that tab.  The penultimate paragraph on that page reads as follows:
     
"Secondly, given that EGDI and its affiliates

operate on a shared management philosophy, it is inappropriate for EGDI and its affiliates to refuse to disclose information simply on the basis that EGDI, as the applicant, has no control over information in the possession of the affiliates.  The fact that EGDI chooses to outsource various functions to its affiliates does not mean that the cost to provide those functions is no longer within the purview of the Board's jurisdiction.  Therefore, the Board requires EGDI to inform all affiliates of their responsibility to provide relevant information required by the Board to carry out its statutory mandate."

Now, that section which I've quoted, together with the section in the previous decision, in my submission, sets the broad policy framework within which the narrow issue being argued this morning has to be considered.  And that is, that it is incumbent on EGDI and its related companies to provide information which may be relevant to a consideration of whether or not the costs are reasonable and therefore the rates are reasonable.    

I use the word "may" for the following reason.  There is -- I guess it is among notorious clichés in the regulated industry that there is a significant information asymmetry.  The utility and its affiliates have detailed information about their financial arrangements, in addition to which they have the advantage, if you wish to frame it narrowly, the tactical advantage of being able to frame those arrangements in a way that makes it difficult, makes the financial substructure of those arrangements opaque.  It's very difficult for intervenors and, I say with respect, for the Board to see through those arrangements, to see who's paying what for what services, and whether or not what's being paid and fair and reasonable.  And therefore, at any given time, the intervenors are -- they're really stumbling in the dark.  They're trying their best to get what they believe to be information which will shed some light on these arrangements.   

And so, in that context, in my respectful submission, the Board should not frame the test of relevance too narrowly.

I'll come do the point in a moment that the Board shouldn't say, for example, that what we, the Board, asked for in the preceding decision is all that ought to be produced in this case.  In our respectful submission, what we have asked for is relevant and necessary for us to try and understand who's paying what to whom, and whether or not that is excessive.

The nature of the information that is necessary in order to decide this was not fixed in stone by the 2003 decision.  In that decision, the Board asked that certain information be produced.  But in the intervening time, in the intervening time, as these relationships mature and as they shift, it may be that other information is necessary.    And it is an attempt to get as much information as we can, that this interrogatory is framed in the way it was.

So, in my respectful submission, this information is relevant to determine whether or not too much is being paid as part of these outsourcing arrangements. 

Now, I'm not the only person in the world who thinks it's relevant.  And I would ask the Board to turn, if it would, to the transcript of last Thursday's proceedings.  It's volume 19.  And this was -- if you turn to page 74 of that exchange, Mr. Louth, who was appearing as the expert for EGDI on the very issue of the outsourcing arrangements, was being cross‑examined by Mr. Thompson.  It's transcript volume 19, page 74.


In the course of that cross‑examination, this appears -- Mr. Thompson was asking some questions about other ways of looking at the arrangements among the various utilities as a test, other than simply the test that Mr. Louth was articulating, looking at financial information as a test, as Mr. Thompson ‑‑ a reality check.  And Mr. Louth made the following observation, beginning at line 21.  I should quote Mr. Thompson's question, beginning at 18: 

"In other words, it is a link with reality.  Do you regard that kind of indicator as more appropriate in this particular case than a benchmarking approach?" 


And Mr. Louth said, and I quote: 

"It's another approach.  I mean, obviously the margin being earned by a first or second provider is of relevance." 


Now, surely Mr. Louth, on this issue, relevance isn't a partisan for the intervenors, but it simply underscores what we submit is the obvious.  It is that this kind of information is relevant.


Let me turn, then, to the second heading of my submissions, and that is whether or not my client, the CCC, signed off on what was provided on Motions Day.  And the particular exchange that's relevant on this is in the transcripts of Motions Day, which is June 29th, 2005.  And at page 10, Mr. O'Leary and I had an exchange.


The chronological context of this exchange is the following; is that CCC Interrogatory 192 had not been responded to - had not been responded to - and we were running up to the point of Motions Day.  And when our expert, and I say collectively our expert - that is, Mr. Stevens, who's filed evidence on behalf of my client, Mr. DeVellis's client and Mr. DeRose's client ‑ filed his pre‑filed evidence, 192 had not been responded to, and therefore was a gap.


Some 48 hours or so before Motions Day, 192 arrived.  And when 192 arrived, it did not have the confidential financial information.  And I was responding to what I thought was the answer when I said, on line ‑‑ beginning at line 12, was that they had been responded to.


Now, Mr. Cass, as I understand it -- and I can't predict precisely what he's going to say, but Mr. Cass, I anticipate, is going to refer to the text of the response to CCC 192.  And if you turn up the text of the response and, in particular, page 9 of 10, I'm looking at item 10.  It reads as follows: 

"As part of this interrogatory, the intervenors have also requested detailed historic financial data, as well as prospective financial data to 2017 for ECSI, CWLP and Accenture Business Services For Utilities.  Again, Enbridge Gas Distribution requested CWLP to consider the provision of the requested information. CWLP had agreed to provide its 2006 forecast earning and assets for 2006 as part of the detailed presentation of the derivation of the ECSI segmented financial statements for 2006 subject to the Board ruling in advance that these documents will be treated as confidential and not form part of the public record in this proceeding." 


It then goes on: 

"Enbridge Gas Distribution's customer care costs for other years are not at issue in this proceeding and there is no customer care service arrangement in place between Enbridge Gas Distribution and CWLP beyond December 31, 2006.  As requested earnings before and after tax attributable to Enbridge Gas Distribution as a ratio of revenues attributable to Enbridge Gas Distribution, and the earnings before and after tax attributable to Enbridge Gas Distribution as a ratio of the net book value of assets of each service provider attributable to Enbridge Gas Distribution for 2006 have been calculated and are presented as part of this exhibit." 


Now, Mr. Cass, as I understand it, reads that ‑‑ reads those two paragraphs, as a crystal clear refusal to provide the various information that we've asked for.  And with the greatest of respect to Mr. Cass, and I guess out of respect for my not being the sharpest tool in the box, I sure didn't read it that way.


I did not read that answer as a refusal to provide the very information, and I anticipated, obviously naively and incorrectly, that when the confidential information came in, it would include this material.


There was a vague reference there to it not being relevant, which is different than saying, I'm not going to provide this information for the following reasons.  But if there's a fault, the fault is mine.  I read it incorrectly and, therefore, said to Mr. O'Leary, It looks as though we've got what we want.


When the information came in on or about July 7th from Ms. Persad, it didn't include the relevant information, and, thereafter, Mr. Thompson, in particular, and also Mr. Shepherd, began to ask for the production of the information.  And it's now been ongoing for nearly two months.


I say the fault was mine.  I misread this answer.  I did not read it as a blunt, crystal clear refusal to provide the information.


In my respectful submission, we anticipated that this information would be provided, and it wasn't.


Now, in my respectful submission, it remains relevant and ought to be produced, and we should not have been found to have signed off on inadequate production on the basis of the answer that's given at page 9 of 10 in the answer to 192.  


Those are my respectful submissions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.


I just have one question of clarification, Mr. Warren, to make sure we're crystal clear today, and that is that we're looking for ‑‑ I did ask this on Friday and got confirmation that it was what we were looking for, but I want to be certain that it hasn't yet been filed, and that is the statements of ECS that you're looking for.  I understand the CustomerWorks financial statements you're looking for have not been filed, but have the ECSI statements you're looking for not been filed?


MR. WARREN:  To the best of my knowledge, they have not.


MR. DeROSE:  No, Madam Chair, they have not.  Bits and pieces have, but not all.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay, thank you.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DeROSE:

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I'll be brief.


I intend to address three issues, first, briefly, what I would call the Motions Day issue; secondly, relevance; and, third, confidentiality.  


With respect to Motions Day, I would echo much of what Mr. Warren said, but put a slightly different spin on it, and it's this way.


I think that the timing of the production of 192, the public component of it, which was before Motions Day, and the timing of the delivery of the confidential component of 192 is relevant to this Board.  And ‑‑ because the intervenors did not have the confidential component, which is what we are here about today, prior to Motions Day.


And I would simply -- building on what Mr. Warren has indicated, IGUA also thought that the information we're now fighting about would be produced in the confidential component.  And, in our submission, that belief was a reasonable one.


It's clear now that ‑‑ or it may be clear now that what EGD thought they were going to produce is different than what the intervenors thought they were going to receive.  But there's no doubt that the parties were not ad idem on that day in terms of what was or was not included in the confidential package.


So for the Board to refuse to order the production of the confidential documents because of what occurred on Motions Day, in our submission, would be inappropriate and unfair, and that the issue which the Board should be looking at today is whether these documents are relevant.  And if they are relevant, they should be produced. 


And I'll turn to the relevance.  And on this I have two small points.  The first is what the test of relevance should be for the Board.  And I would -- in our submission, the term "relevance" should not be framed in a narrow or restrictive manner before this Board.  Historically, in our submission, the Board has not approached relevance in a narrow manner.  In our submission, it should be framed in the notion of whether there is a semblance of relevance; whether these documents could assist a party in its assessment, or the Board in an assessment, of whether the costs are or are not fair that are being passed down to EGD.  And the difficulty that the intervenors have is that we don't know what's in the documents.  

But what we do have is one of EGD's experts, Mr. Louth, confirming that indeed this type of information, which we believe is contained in them, is relevant.  And Mr. Warren has already taken you to.  The reference, if you feel it's necessary to go back to it, is volume 19 of the transcript, from September the 15th.  It's page 74.   And Mr. Louth confirms, and we agree with Mr. Louth on this particular issue, that the earnings of the affiliates or the business partners, the margin that they realize, is relevant to the assessment of whether –- of the fair market value or the fairness of the services or the costs associated with the services provided to EGD.  So, in our submission, it's absolutely crystal clear that these documents are relevant, which then takes us to the issue of confidentiality.   

I'd simply say this:  Over the past -- well, since the fiscal 2003 rate hearing, since about 2003, we've been at this a few times.  And we have seen it becoming more and more common in rates cases to have rather large bundles of documents earmarked as confidential.  And we'd just like to put on the record a concern, and it's this:  That –- and let me back it up.  That occurs in part because of a practical matter:  There's always a time compression in these hearings, and so the intervenors and the company and the Board try to figure out ways to work together, to obtain the information required to provide an assessment of what is fair and reasonable.  And in part of that working together, we have generally been accepting that large volumes of documents are confidential, and we won't really get into whether they are or are not confidential but we'll just accept it, because, from a time perspective, it's easier to do that.  

We'd like to simply just put on the record a reminder that the burden with respect to confidentiality should be placed on the party that is asking that the documents be treated confidential, and as a matter of course, there should be a presumption that all documents are to be treated public and that that presumption should be addressed by those asking for it to be confidential.    

In this case, I'll await to hear the submissions of those parties seeking confidentiality.  I'm not saying that we are objecting to them being confidential today, but I simply want it to be clear on the record that IGUA, as a matter of course, still takes the position that the presumption of confidentiality remains on those that are asking it, and that that burden should remain.    

Those are my submissions.   

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  

Mr. Shepherd?   

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:
MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Let me start with what I think is the simple principle, which is that if a document is relevant and material, it has to be produced.  The only -- now, I raise this because of the question of what happened on Motions Day.

It's true that if the Board had decided on Motions Day, had heard argument and decided these documents are not material, are not relevant, then that's done.  It's legitimate to say:  The Board's already decided this point.    If the Board has not made that decision, which it hasn't in this case, then what happened on Motions Day is completely irrelevant.  If the documents are material and relevant, then this Board's responsibility is to order their production, and the responsibility of the applicant is to deliver them without fooling around.

So let me go to what is, in my view, the important issue, and that is, are these material and relevant?  The issue that these documents address is whether EI, the affiliates at large, whichever ones we're talking about, are making a lot of money on outsourcing.  The Board's expressed a concern about this in past decisions.  There's no surprise that the intervenors, the ratepayers are concerned about this.  We have evidence from the financial statements of EI touting how much money they're making from outsourcing - $20 million a year.  They're all excited about it.  

And it is certainly important that this Board in this case, where the amount of the customer care costs is an issue, to determine whether that amount is unreasonable by virtue of the excess profits being made by affiliates.  So if this evidence speaks to that issue, there's no question that it's relevant and there's no question it's material.

So it is true that some parts of the evidence needed to track down this offshore profit are already in evidence.  So we have partial financial statements in A6, tab 2, schedule 3, the partially segmented ECSI and CWLP financial statements.  Not all of them but just bits and pieces.  

We have again in I5, 192, attachment 3, some more financial information.  Interestingly enough, that financial information doesn't match the financial -- even though it's the same information, the numbers don't match with the information in A6.  We also have some additional financial information in I25, 55.  Again, that doesn't match.  And furthermore, that information doesn't calculate, that is, you can't derive those numbers from the numbers in the other filed information.

We'll show in our cross-examination that the figures in the various financial information files don't match each other.  So, for example, we have a -- actually, I guess some of this is confidential, so I guess what I'm going to say is, we have three different figures for the assets of ECSI, and none of them, by the way, track to what the asset figures should be when you look at the CWLP financial statements because most of the ECSI financials are – most of the ECSI assets are a flow-through from CWLP.  So you should be able to track the two.  You can't.

We're going to show - and this will all come out in our cross-examination, but I really would prefer not to have to spend two hours to bring this all out - we'll show that, for example, the ROE calculation and the return on -- the rate of return calculation both don't match either each other.  You have the same calculation different places, producing different numbers.  You have the base numbers on which you make that calculation in different places, producing even more different numbers.  And in neither case are those figures, the ROE figures or the return on -- rate of return figures calculated in the same manner as -- or apparently in the same manner as this Board thinks of ROE or rate of return.    

The result of all of this is that, unless we actually see real financial statements, not the stuff that they've produced, the sanitized stuff that is filed so far but actual real financial statements from a real company, where a real auditor's looked at them and said, "Yes, this is right," we have no way of knowing what the real numbers are.


Furthermore, in many of the figures that we're going to look at in the financial statements, the components of those figures are not clear.  So, for example, they have asset figures on which they calculate ROE, but those asset figures include cash and receivables, not something on which you calculate ROE.


There's numerous examples.  I could go on for an hour on these examples.


Furthermore, we have the contracts on which these payments are made, and the contracts have numbers in them, not estimates; real numbers that produce real results because it's pre‑agreed what this deduction or this addition will be under the contract.  You can actually calculate under the contract what the revenue numbers should be, what the expense numbers should be, and those don't match what the financial statements say for 2006 or, indeed, for 2004.


What we had originally ‑‑ the School Energy Coalition originally planned to do, because we'd seen that the company had basically refused to provide this information is we were going to go through the step-by-step cross‑examination of all the financial information and contract information that is already in the record, show that we have an infinite number of numbers, and then ask that the real numbers be produced by an undertaking. 


Mr. Thompson pre-empted that last Wednesday by writing a letter saying, Why don't you just give us the stuff?  He's right.  That's the best way of doing it.


It's harder to demonstrate that it's necessary without going through the painful task of showing that what we've got is useless.  But it is true that if we have real financial information, real statements, and then pro formas that are done on the same basis as those real statements, it will be much easier for us, and, more importantly, for the Board to understand exactly what is going on here.


Those are our submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Ms. Cole.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. COLE:

MS. COLE:  Superior Energy supports HVAC's and SEC ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Cole, can you be a little bit closer to your microphone, please.


MS. COLE:  Superior Energy supports HVAC, SEC and Degoa's request for the production of the audited financial statements for 2004 and the pro forma statements for 2005 and 2006 by CWLP and ESCI.  We support the position that the documents are relevant and that they are material.


It is also noteworthy that the Board rules, specifically Rule 14.1, support the disclosure of the documents in question, but because they are relevant to the issues related to the customer support, CIS and third party access to the bill that are at issue in this proceeding, and there does not appear to be any harm to the parties that could be caused by this disclosure.


In the context of the issues raised in EGD's evidence pertaining to operation and maintenance costs related to customer support and CIS and EGD's financial benefits resulting from the relationship between Direct Energy and CWLP, we also submit that the law governing disclosure -- even if the documents are confidential, that the law governing disclosure of otherwise -- these confidential documents does support disclosure.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Cole.  Mr. Dingwall?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DINGWALL:

MR. DINGWALL:  It is a rare occasion when Mr. Warren, Mr. DeRose, and Mr. Shepherd leave me speechless, but this is one of them.  However, I would like to briefly state that --


MR. WARREN:  Not speechless, obviously.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You get our hopes up, and then you dash them.


MR. DINGWALL:  Mr. Warren has dealt succinctly and completely with the procedural matters with respect to this.  Mr. DeRose has dealt with, with some assistance from Ms. Cole, with the legal aspects of this, and Mr. Shepherd has shown us pragmatic and practical aspects of dealing with this now, at this time, and the need for it.  And I can't add to it at this time, which I've just added to.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Mr. DeVellis?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DeVELLIS:

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I support the motion for essentially the same reasons as my colleagues, and I would echo Mr. DeRose's comments that if the documents are relevant, which we think they are, they should not be confidential.  


I go back to a point made by one of my colleagues on Friday, and that is to take this from the perspective of an average person viewing these proceedings and whether a regulated monopoly should be allowed to set up what is essentially a shell company, an interim arrangement with another company, and use that structure to shield from intervenors and, by extension, ratepayers, the financial information relating to that structure.


And I think that in the age of Enron and the NFP and the sponsorship scandal, that the answer to that question is self‑evident.  And I don't mean to suggest any impropriety on the part of anybody in this room, but shell companies and secret contracts inspire innuendo and suspicion, and for those reasons we think that all these documents should be produced and should not be confidential.


Thank you.  Those are our submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  Ms. Sims?


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. SIMS:

MS. SIMS:  Thank you.


At issue is whether the confidential business information belonging to CustomerWorks and others should be ordered produced. CustomerWorks resists the production of this confidential business information on the basis of three main issues.  The first is that the non‑production of the material at issue was previously determined on consent of the parties, intervenors and CWLP on Motions Day, secondly, the issue of relevance, and, thirdly, the issue of confidentiality.


In summary, CustomerWorks opposes the production of its confidential business information, in part because the request is overly broad in both the periods for which the information is requested and the type of information requested.


The rate hearings' concern in the large issue is setting rates for 2006.  And it's our submission that the information requested is not relevant to that issue.


Returning to the background briefly on CustomerWorks, CustomerWorks provides Enbridge Gas Service Inc. with the customer care services previously provided by Enbridge Commercial Services, Inc.  CustomerWorks is a limited partnership owned 70 percent by Enbridge Inc. and 30 percent by Terasen Inc., which is formerly B.C. Gas.


CustomerWorks provides its customer care services to ECG.  In addition to providing these services, Enbridge provides similar services to Enbridge Services, Inc., Terasen Inc., Gazifère, and Enbridge Gas New Brunswick Inc.


The documents requested by IGUA in its letter of September 14th to Enbridge are for documents requested as part of CCC 192 and for which the response was agreed to be sufficient.  CCC delivered this into interrogatory to Enbridge requesting that Enbridge provide certain information, including confidential business information belonging to CWLP and others.  Enbridge has responded to CCC 192 with a response which provided information and confirming that information will be produced that was provided -- with the same confidentiality protections would be in place, as were ordered in the 2001 proceeding, and refusing production of other information which was beyond the scope of the prior order made and beyond the scope of relevancy.


I would like to turn back to the transcript of Motions Day where this issue had been raised in a motion and noting that CWLP was in attendance on Motions Day to address this motion, but it was resolved in that the motion was withdrawn.


Turning back, just to have the specifics of what Mr. Warren said, and I won't go through the entire bit of the transcript which is ‑‑ but this is the excerpt that's at page 10 of the transcript of Motions Day, where Mr. Warren stated that: 

"Our notice of motion indicated that our interrogatories, that being my client's interrogatory 190 and 192, had not been responded to." 


And I suppose implicit in that was our reserving our right, once they had been responded to, to argue about the sufficiency of the response.  Both have now been responded to, and I am instructed that both are sufficient.

     I note that IGUA was also represented on Motions Day. 

The particulars of the request that is before the Board today, set out in the letter of September 14th, and unfortunately not received by CustomerWorks until the afternoon of the 15th, is that the complete and unredacted financial statements for ECSI and CustomerWorks for 2004, and the complete and unredacted pro forma statements for ECSI and CWLP for 2005 and 2006 in that same format as the 2004 statements be produced.

I note that the response to which Mr. Warren has taken you to, the response to the request for the information as part of the interrogatory CCC 192 was, in part, to that section.  It's at page 10 -- or section 10 of the response. 

It was that CWLP had agreed to provide its 2006 forecast earnings and assets for 2006 as part of a detailed presentation of the derivation of the ECSI segmented financial statements for 2006.  

It’s my submission that it was clear from that that what was being produced was this information for its 2006 forecast earnings, and it was clear that 2004 and 2005 information was not being produced, and clear from that that audited financial statements and complete pro forma financial statements were not being produced.

    Turning to the issue of whether -- of the fact that this was the subject of Motions Day, I note that the non-production of the material being sought was previously determined on consent by the parties, intervenors, and CWLP.  

It's CWLP's position that, absent extraordinary circumstances, the Board should not entertain the reopening of settled issues.  It's my submission that, although Mr. Warren has made submissions that he had some lack of clarity on this issue, that there are no extraordinary circumstances which warrant reopening of this settled issue.

     A motion was set down for Motions Day to address whether the requested financial statements should be ordered produced, and it was agreed that the response to CCC 192 was sufficient and the motion was thereby resolved.

     IGUA was also present on Motions Day, and represented when this motion was resolved on the record.

     However, I will turn now to the issue of relevance.  The starting point of dealing with production of these documentations should be whether the information requested is relevant and material to the matters at issue in the rate hearing.

Again, the request is for complete and unredacted financial statements and complete and unredacted pro forma financial statements.  It is my submission that that request is overly broad and requests information that is neither material nor relevant to the matters at issue for the Board in this rate hearing.

CustomerWorks sought to address CCC 192 by agreeing to provide certain financial information, and that information had been provided.  That information was the segmented statement for the 2006 forecast earnings.

Pursuant to section 36(2) of the Act, the essential function of the Board in the rate hearing is the approving or fixing just and reasonable rates.  Section 36(7) provides that the applicant is obliged to adduce evidence in that regard, and section 36(6) provides that the applicant bears the burden of proof.

As a result, if the Board concludes that the evidence adduced by EGD is sufficient to establish what is just and reasonable, then it may be that there is no need to have the confidential business information of non-parties to be produced.

    The question of whether costs incurred by EGD and outsourcing certain functions to CustomerWorks are just and reasonable can and should be determined on the basis of evidence related to EGD's prior costs of providing the services, market rates, or other evidence available to the parties.  The complete and unredacted financial statements for 2004 and the pro forma financial statements for 2005 and 2006 are not relevant to the rate hearing.  Financial statements for CWLP, which aggregate data relating to EGD and other customers, would not be helpful in determining what is just and reasonable in relation to EGD.

     CustomerWorks provides services to non-parties other than Enbridge.  Confidential and sensitive business information of CWLP is contained in its financial statements.  This information relates to its business and particularly with respect to its business with other customers.  As such, this information is not relevant to the matters at issue in this rate hearing.

Further, the financial statements requested are for periods other than for the period at issue in the rate hearing.  It is appropriate to require disclosure of a non- -- it is not appropriate to require disclosure of non-parties' financial statements beyond what is relevant to the rate hearing.  

And it is my submission that where it has been said that the tests should be whether there's a semblance of relevance in a rate hearing, it's my submission that when dealing with non-parties' business information, the test should not be broad but should be strict with respect to relevance to ensure that non-parties are not put to the task of a fishing expedition.

The 2003 decision of the Board, which was referenced by Mr. Warren, dealt with the production of information from CWLP and Enbridge regarding CWLP.  In that decision, the Board stated that:

"The Board's focus in considering the reasonableness of outsourcing costs in the context of a rate hearing is, firstly, the basis on which the decision to outsource was made; secondly, whether the cost is a market-based price, and, if so, what the market-based process was used to select the service provider; and, thirdly, where there is no market for the outsourced service, what is the cost of service to the service provider to provide that service to the utility."

And that's in the 2003 decision, at paragraph 4.8. The information requested includes the request for information related to CWLP, and will disclose information related to its services provided to non-parties to this rate hearing.  

As stated previously, I'd like to reiterate that CustomerWorks provides services to entities other than parties to this rate hearing.  Information related to the business of CWLP in providing services to other customers of CWLP, especially customers in other jurisdictions, is not relevant to this rate hearing.

In addition, the information requested is overly broad since it is for the years 2004 to 2006.  This rate hearing concerns setting the 2006 rates.

As a result of any production of portions of the information requested, which is otherwise determined to be relevant, should be limited to 2006.  The potentially relevant materials on this issue were produced as part of a response to 192, which provided 2006 financial information.

The information sought by the intervenors not only intrudes on what is otherwise private and confidential information in the hands of CWLP, it is submitted that the Board should be -- as a result, it is submitted that the Board should be reluctant to order non-parties to produce irrelevant information.

CWLP has agreed to produce the same type of information produced in conjunction with the 2003 decision under confidentiality provisions, and this request is for further production beyond the scope of the 2003 decision.

I turn now to the issue of confidentiality.

In the circumstances that production is ordered with respect to these materials, it is CWLP's submission that this information should be produced in confidence.  CustomerWorks carries on business in a competitive business environment.  By definition, in such an environment, financial data is confidential and proprietary, in that competitors would gain an advantage if CustomerWorks was forced to divulge financial information which would reveal or allow inferences to be drawn, for example, as to the cost of its pricing, its cost and financial structure.

In the business world, financial data of this type sought by the intervenors is closely guarded, with directors, officers, and senior executives of the corporation being the only individuals with access.

I also note that it is not that this is a situation where we have secret contracts, as was referred to by one of my friends.  In fact, the CustomerWorks agreement has been produced in confidence in this proceeding, and, as a result, it's not that there is a shroud of secrecy.  What we're seeking to do is ensure that only the relevant information is produced and what is confidential be protected.

It's vitally important to bear in mind that the request for documents and information from CustomerWorks not only infringes on the confidential business affairs of CustomerWorks but also infringes directly on the confidential business information of its customers and its suppliers.

If, contrary to my submissions, the Board makes an order relating to CustomerWorks, then I ask that such information be filed pursuant to the Board's guidelines for the treatment of and filing made in confidence and Rule 10 of the Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure.


In particular, I would ask that the information be ‑‑ not form part of the public record, that it only be made available to intervenors who have signed the confidentiality undertaking, and that the portions of the hearing dealing with the confidential information or the information contained therein be held in camera; further, that the materials and any copies of that either be destroyed or returned to CustomerWorks at the conclusion of the proceeding, or satisfactory evidence being provided that that has been done.


And those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Sims.  Ms. Kanner?


MS. KANNER:  Thank you, Madam Chairperson.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry, Ms. Kanner, before you begin, I think we have questions from Mr. Sommerville.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just on that last point, Ms. Sims, are you suggesting that the materials filed with the Board, that those materials should also be returned so that we would have an in‑camera proceeding with respect to the ‑‑ assuming that we were to order the production of the material and we were to have an in‑camera proceeding, are you suggesting that the materials filed and the subject of that in‑camera proceeding would either be destroyed or returned?  


MS. SIMS:  No.  No, I'm not.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So your suggestion wouldn't extend to the Board itself?  


MS. SIMS:  It wouldn't extend to the Board, but it's, I guess, a portion of the undertaking of intervenor counsel.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Sims, I think, in your remarks you've accepted the proposition that the reasonableness of the customer care costs is a relevant consideration for the Board.  Did I hear you correctly on that?  


MS. SIMS:  Yes, but it's, I guess, the reasonableness of the cost for Enbridge, for the applicant.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.  And in order to ascertain that, I think you suggested, in a couple of spots in your remarks, a kind of list of methods that the Board could use to determine the appropriateness of those costs.  Did I hear that right?  


MS. SIMS:  And what I've done in those portions of my remarks is those are -- I guess those are statements that the Board made in the 2003 decision as to potential means of determining those costs.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think it appeared a couple of times in your remarks.  One was in reference to 133, and another was independent of that, I thought, as a sort of general proposition that you would look -- for example, if there was a market price, that you would look at the market price and you would say, That was a reasonable price; isn't that right?  


MS. SIMS:  That's right.  And if it wasn't clear, that is actually taken out of the 2003 decision.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And I also thought that you had suggested that failing that, that the costs associated with providing the services should be the kind of material that the Board should be able to look at in order to make that determination as to whether the customer care costs are reasonable or not.  


MS. SIMS:  And it's my submission, in terms of the cost, that it's whether the cost ‑‑ that Enbridge pays for those services are reasonable.  And it's my submission that the information, the segmented financial statements provided and the contract material provided to the intervenors, and as part of 192, have previously dealt with that issue.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  I guess my question goes to the exchange between Mr. Thompson and Mr. Louth with respect to the relevance of the margin that the service provider or the -- the chain of service provision, that the margins involved in that would also be relevant to the consideration of the reasonableness of the costs.


Did you see that reference in the transcript from a previous day?  


MS. SIMS:  I did not.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  If I can paraphrase - and Mr. Cass can feel free to correct me if I misstate this - but I think Mr. Louth suggested that the margin of ‑‑ the margins being -- and I use this word without any pejorative sense, but the margins being extracted in the service provision chain might be a relevant consideration in the determination of the reasonableness of the customer care costs.


Is that a proposition that you would adopt?  


MS. SIMS:  Unfortunately, until I've had a chance to further consider it, I'm not in a position to do that.  Unfortunately, due to the timing, I haven't had an opportunity to review that transcript.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It was referenced in Mr. Warren's commentary earlier today.  Thank you, Mr. Warren.


MR. WARREN:  I think in fairness to Ms. Sims, I think she might just take a moment to read the entire exchange that precedes it, because it provides a context for the observation Mr. Thompson puts various alternative ways of reality checks, he calls it.  So just looking at -- a standard observation might not help.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's right.  It's pages 73 and 74, but just to your point with respect to relevance, on page 74 from, say, lines -- you know, Mr. Thompson's question at page 12 through to Mr. Louth's answer at line 23, which is, and I'm quoting directly:

"Obviously, the margin being earned by a first or second provider is of relevance." 


And my question is:  Is that a proposition that you would adopt?


MS. SIMS:  And, unfortunately, not -- without the ability to further reflect on it, I apologize to the Board I'm just not in a position to...


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's fair enough.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Kanner.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. KANNER:

MS. KANNER:  Thank you, Madam Chairperson.  As I said, I would be very brief.


We support -- on behalf of Accenture, we support CWLP's submissions.


I find it very significant that my friends, who are on the other side of this issue this morning, have referred to the information as "confidential."  Everybody knows that this information is confidential, and the confidentiality of it is related to the prejudice that would be suffered by the commercial parties to the transactions who operate in a very highly competitive environment.


If that wasn't an issue, then my friends would not be referring to it in that particular way.  So we have a real sense that this information, which belongs to parties who are not involved in this hearing or in these decisions, that these parties will be prejudiced and severely prejudiced by any disclosure of it.


I find it also very significant that, you know, I find out today that there was an agreement with regard to the filing of the information or the information has already been filed, and that no one who was present on that day picked up on the -- you know, on what Mr. Warren has said this morning, is that he didn't understand that he wasn't getting what he wanted.  


I think there was an agreement, and I think that that agreement has to be respected.


I also understand today that there is certain information that has already been filed with regard to previous years, and I find it interesting that somehow that information didn't satisfy the needs of the group here present and that they continued, therefore, on a further expedition looking for support for their positions.


And those are my submissions.  Thank you very much.


MS. SIMS:  And if I may just add, in that I know there was an issue about whether ECSI was represented today and that, while I am not here to represent ECSI, I did have an opportunity to get instructions, in that they concur with the submissions that were made by CustomerWorks.  And that's sort of the extent to which I had communications.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Sims.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just one question of clarification, Ms. Kanner.  You indicated the information, the information that belongs to the parties.  Does any of the information being requested belong to your client?


MS. KANNER:  It is my understanding that my client is affected by the disclosure of the information, and from that I gleaned that it, yes, belongs to the client.  I can't be more eloquent than that on this particular subject, because I just don't have specific information.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  I'm reading in a different meaning to the word "belong", perhaps.  Do you have ownership and control in some measure of the information that's being sought by this motion?  That's my question.  Not, “Did you have an interest?”

MS. KANNER:  My understanding is that it's beyond just an interest in the sense that information that will be disclosed comes from Accenture's own financial information.  Now, that is my understanding.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay, that material that is part of the material that's being sought to be produced here comes from the records of your company, your client's records?

MS. KANNER:  That was my understanding, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Sims, can you help on that subject? 

MS. SIMS:  Unfortunately, I can't.  I'd hoped that I'd have the benefit of Mr. Howe on this issue, and we don't.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. KANNER:  Certainly Mr. Howe could speak to it more eloquently and with more information than I.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Cass.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:

MR. CASS:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

In response to a question from Mr. Sommerville at one point last week, I indicated that my intention, on behalf of Enbridge Gas Distribution, in relation to this issue was to go back to the 2003 decision and discuss the guidance that Enbridge Gas Distribution understood the Board to be giving to it in that decision.

I will do that.  But before coming to it, I think there's a few points in submissions made by other parties that I should respond to on behalf of Enbridge Gas Distribution.

First, Mr. Warren referred to the information that was available to intervenors on Motions Day and read the passage from the response to CCC interrogatory 192 that appeared to me to make it fairly clear that non-test year information was not going to be provided.

He then went on to say that the matter only became clear when the parties actually received the confidential information on July the 7th.  Following that, he made the comment that parties have been pursuing the issue for two months.

That's one point that I felt I should respond to, Madam Chair.  I don't know with whom Mr. Warren was suggesting that the issue has been pursued, but I would assume he meant through Enbridge Gas Distribution.  I'm not aware of it, Madam Chair.  As far as I am aware, the first time the matter came up after July 7th and Enbridge Gas Distribution was put on notice that parties were pursuing this was when Mr. Thompson mentioned it to the policy panel, which, going by memory, might have been day 6 of this hearing.

Anyway, I don't profess to know the details of what Mr. Warren was talking about, but I'm certainly not aware of the issue having been pursued for two months.

Next, Madam Chair, Mr. Shepherd made a comment right at the outset of his submissions, which I thought was a fairly illuminating one.  He began to talk about why this information is considered to be relevant and material.  He then very pointedly said that the reason this information is relevant is to allow the Board, I presume, to address the issue of whether EI is making a lot of money on outsourcing.

Well, that, in my submission, Madam Chair, brings out very clearly what this matter is all about from the point of view of the request that's being made by intervenors.  It's a request to conduct some sort of inquiry into whether EI is making a lot of money on outsourcing.  

Madam Chair, in my submission, again, speaking from the perspective of Enbridge Gas Distribution, what is relevant in this case is rates for 2006.  That's what this case is all about.  The reasonableness of costs for 2006 is certainly relevant, and I will talk about that more a little bit later.

The question that begs to be answered is:  Why is financial information from unregulated third parties, apparently including business that those third parties do with others who are unregulated and not under the jurisdiction of this Board, relevant to setting rates for Enbridge Gas Distribution for 2006?  Why would 2004 and 2005 information from these non-parties be relevant?

Well, we now have the answer.  It's not for setting rates for Enbridge Gas Distribution for 2006.  It's for some sort of a broad inquiry about whether Enbridge Inc. is making a lot of money on outsourcing.

Just to follow up on that point, Madam Chair, again from the perspective of Enbridge Gas Distribution, which has a different interest in this interest than CWLP and the other parties you've heard arguing in opposition to the motion.  Enbridge Gas Distribution, of course, regularly appears before this Board and has an interest in the Board's process and proceedings from that point of view.  The Board will be well aware that 2004 and 2005 issues of customer care were subject to settlements, either on a broader basis or in whatever form it took.  These matters were settled.

So, to now, in some sort of back-door fashion, attempt to go back to 2004 and 2005 issues is either directly, or at least indirectly, reopening what Enbridge Gas Distribution thought was settled in 2004 and 2005.  I would say, at a minimum, it is certainly reopening 2004 and 2005 settlements, unless somebody makes a good case why this is relevant to Enbridge Gas Distribution's rates for the test year.  I certainly haven't heard that.  

I'm perhaps digressing a little bit more, but I was going address this later.  Perhaps this is an opportunity for me to provide my perspective on what Mr. Louth said.  I didn't hear anybody ask Mr. Louth:  Do you think that the Board should have 2004 and 2005 service provider information for the Board to determine the reasonableness of 2006 costs?  I didn't hear anybody ask Mr. Louth:  Do you think that the Board should have information about service to CWLP's other customers in order to determine the reasonableness of Enbridge Gas Distribution's 2006 costs?

I don't know CWLP's customers.  For obvious reasons, Ms. Sims was careful in talking about them.  But I think from the record of this proceeding and other proceedings, the Board is aware that they include, I believe, Direct Energy, Terasen, and so on.  Mr. Louth was not at any time asked:  Well, is it relevant to know what sort of a margin CWLP earns on business for customers like that, in order to determine the reasonableness of Enbridge Gas distribution's 2006 rates.

In my submission, what the Board would want to look at to determine the reasonableness of 2006 rates, including information about margin that's relevant to the test year and that excludes service to other companies, has been provided.  That's what has been given to the Board.

Now, the next point that I wish to address, Madam Chair, was one made by Mr. DeVellis.  And I found this a little upsetting so I will try to moderate my tone, and if my frustration comes through, I apologize.

Mr. DeVellis made a comment about -- I think he said the utility, Enbridge Gas Distribution, is setting up a shell company, which presumably was in reference to CWLP or ECSI or both, and then suggested that the Board should be concerned about this in light of things that he called "the Enron and the sponsorship issues."

Well, Madam Chair, in my mind, that borders on the outrageous, and is scare-mongering, to draw some sort of parallel here to the Enron situation.  In my submission, if parties are going to throw out those sorts of accusations, they should have some evidence before they do it, and they should just not freely, in submissions made by counsel, make statements with no evidentiary foundation that really amount to scare-mongering.

More fundamentally, on his point that this was shell company, Madam Chair, the evolution of CWLP and ECSI was fully canvassed, in great detail, in the 2003 case.  It was by no stretch of the imagination a setting up of a shell company.  There was an initial outsourcing.  After that outsourcing had been in place for some time, there was a decision made that it was best to align with a company like Accenture, a big player in this industry of customer care services, and there was a transaction with Accenture.

This was an evolution.  Each step was examined in detail in the 2003 case, and the reasons for each step were examined in detail in the 2003 case.  Mr. Letwin came from Enbridge Inc. to tell the Board about all of this, and there is nothing in any of that explanation to suggest that this was the setting up of a shell company. 

Having said all of that, then, Madam Chair, if I may turn to what I had originally wanted to say about the 2003 decision.
 I don't know if the Board has it at hand.  I hate to burden the Board with more paper.  I did bring extracts that I've highlighted from the 2003 decision, just to expedite my points, but if you have your own copies and would prefer to refer to those, that would be fine, as well.


MS. NOWINA:  That might be more helpful than us trying to find them, Mr. Cass.  So if we can use your copies?


All right, we'll give it an exhibit number, just to be formal.


MR. BATTISTA:  We'll give that Exhibit No. K21.1.  That will be excerpts from RP‑2002‑0133.


EXHIBIT NO. K21.1:  EXCERPTS FROM RP-2002-0133

MR. CASS:  And, again, my point in doing this, Madam Chair, I will try to make this quick but it's just to bring out the perspective of Enbridge Gas Distribution as to the ground rules for Enbridge Gas Distribution that flowed out of this 2003 proceeding.  And might I say by way of introduction, in my submission at least - and I think it's apparent from the amount of time that the Board spent on this issue in its 2003 decision - there was considerable attention paid to all of these issues we're now talking about - that is, outsourcing, service provider costs, and so on - in the 2003 case.  Much time was spent on discussing what level of disclosure there should be.  The Board gave careful consideration, I think on more than one occasion, to the disclosure issues, the issues about the numbers and how to analyze them, and so on.


In my submission, this has been done by the Board before, and the Board in this decision, in my submission, laid out a groundwork that at least Enbridge Gas Distribution believed was intended to provide guidance for future cases such as this one.


Now, the first point I wanted to make, looking at the section of the decision opposite the heading 2.17, was just to put this case into context.


The heading 2.17, you'll see, is "Positions of the Intervenors ‑ TBPR and Efficiency Gains."


I've highlighted there some of the submissions that were made, and they go on at great length.


The context I wanted to bring out, though, Madam Chair is simply that in this case intervenors have brought forward an idea that at the conclusion of the company's targeted performance‑based regulation plan that was targeted to O&M expenses, it was appropriate to look into these service providers that were providing customer care services and to determine whether there were some efficiencies in there that were transferred from the utility to the service provider during the course of targeted PBR.


The intervenors' position was that the Board should be able to do something with those transferred efficiencies by way of its rate‑making for Enbridge Gas Distribution.


The point is there was this position, to try to find a neutral word, advanced by intervenors to have the Board reach right in to these service providers and examine their costs in some detail.  So it was in that context that there was considerable attention paid to how much the Board should examine costs of service providers and how much disclosure there should be.


Now, the next point that I wish to highlight is at paragraph 487, where the Board's findings on customer care costs begin.


In paragraph 487, the Board gets right to the point at the beginning of its findings and says: 

"A market exists for customer care." 


Then in paragraph 488, the Board sets out what flows from that.  It says: 

"A market exists.  The company's obligation to establish that the price being paid for customer care is no greater than fair market value." 


So this is the context that, in my submission, Madam Chair, is very important.  It's fair market value that the Board is after in connection with customer care costs.  It's fair market value that the Board should be thinking about in determining whether information sought by other parties is relevant.



Now, another point that I wanted to bring out, because it seems to be resurfacing in this case, was made by the Board at paragraph 501 of this decision.  So paragraph 501 is at the bottom of the next page, and it's actually the last sentence that I wanted to refer to.  


As I indicated, there was considerable discussion of the history of outsourcing in the fiscal 2003 case, and the conclusion that the Board comes to in this sentence, at the bottom of paragraph 501, is: 

"The Board also accepts that it may not have been the most desirable option for the company to go to the marketplace for customer care, because this could have led to the stranding of a significant CIS asset." 


So what we have, Madam Chair, is we have the Board deciding that there is a market, it's a fair market value determination, but the Board accepting, in the circumstances that it heard about in the 2003 case, that there is a good reason why there is not an open tender process that the Board can look to for fair market value.


So the question, then, is:  What does the Board look to, to determine fair market value?


And without going into any great detail, I would observe that the three Alberta Energy and Utilities Board decisions that were provided during the cross‑examination of Mr. Louth ‑ the exhibit numbers, I believe, were K19.1, K19.2, and K19.3 - are in my submission all essentially examples of the Alberta Board looking to benchmarking evidence to establish fair market value for customer care services.


So without going through all of them, there was the initial decision, where Direct Energy Regulated Services was required or directed, I guess, by the Alberta Board to do a benchmarking study.  That is the 2003‑106 decision.  And at page 87 of the decision, the Board does just what I said:

"The Board directs DERS to undertake a comprehensive benchmarking study to determine if the charges under the MS agreement represents fair market value for the services provided and, if not, what the fair market value is for the services."


The subsequent Direct Energy decision, which I think is the EUB decision 2005‑105, the Board actually looked at the benchmarking study and came to its determination of fair market value.


The point, is, Madam Chair, that that's the approach the Alberta Board took to determine the issue that this Board said in its fiscal 2003 case was the issue for Enbridge Gas Distribution's customer care service; that is, fair market value.


Now, again, I'm trying to tell the Board the perspective of Enbridge Gas Distribution in light of that.  Enbridge Gas Distribution brought Mr. Louth and had Mr. Louth file his benchmarking evidence and provide evidence about it.  Enbridge Gas Distribution is trying to address what it sees arising from the 2003 case as being the issue; and that is fair market value, and I should emphasize fair market value of the services in the test year, not in some other year.


So then with that review of the 2003 decision, Madam Chair, I think I can just summarize my comments to the Board about the guidance that Enbridge Gas Distribution believed it had received from the Board in three or four points.


First, just as I've already indicated, Enbridge Gas Distribution understood the 2003 decision to be determining that the exercise is one of finding fair market value.  Now, I won't go back over what I've already said on that.


Second, in terms of service provider cost data, I've already explained to the Board, or attempted to, the context of the 2003 decision, which was that there was this position being advanced by intervenors that, in order for them to establish, required to look right into the affiliate service providers' costs for the so-called "transferred efficiencies".


Now, I may be wrong.  In the final decision, I don't think the Board said anything about transferred efficiencies.  It talked about fair market value.  However, my point is that even in that context, where there was this broader inquiry to look for transfer efficiencies in this affiliates, or in service providers, the Board did not have test year information that, in my understanding, is any different than what this Panel already has, and that's in the context of this broad “transferred efficiencies” argument that was being made to the Board.

Then the third point I wanted to make, and I'm sorry, I meant to refer to the paragraphs in the decision, but I think Mr. McGill already did it in his examination in chief, the other thing the Board did, after spending all this time on outsourcing, service providers' costs, transferred efficiencies, analyzing numbers from service providers, the Board actually went ahead and provided guidance for future cases.  

That, for example, is in paragraph 534 and in paragraph 536 of the decision that I handed up to the Board.  So the Board gives a direction in 534 about segmented financial statements, and it goes on further in 536 about financial details.  Mr. McGill testified in examination in-chief how Enbridge Gas Distribution believes it has complied with that guidance from the Board.

So, obviously, my point, which really flows from all of what I've been saying, is that much time was spent on this -- all of these matters in 2003.  Enbridge Gas Distribution believed that the Board had gone to considerable effort to provide direction as to the appropriate approach that would extend into future cases, and Enbridge Gas Distribution believes it has followed that approach.

I think that completes my submissions, Madam Chair.  I'll just check with Mr. Hoey, if I may, I'm sorry.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  Certainly.

MR. CASS:  This is just a concern on my part, Madam Chair, and I don't actually know the answer to this, but I know there's been talk about audited statements - Ms. Sims would know better than me - but I don't know whether audited statements exist, and to what extent they do, for these companies.

So when I was listening to previous submissions, I just wrote that down as a question, but it's not one that I know the answer to.

Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  

Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  No submissions, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Warren, would you like to respond?

REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN:

MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I have only three points I want to respond to.

With respect to Ms. Sims and what I allegedly submitted committed myself to on Motions Day, as I've indicated, in my examination -– in my submissions, initially, I'm more than happy to fall on my sword on that if I misread it.  But I'd like to take the Board back to the text of Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 192, page 9 of 10.

     Now, my friend Ms. Sims says, and I quote:

"It was clear that 2004 and 2005 statements                were not being produced.  It was clear that                audited 2004 and pro forma 2005 and 2006                statements were not being produced."

Now, if you read the text of that, I'm going to take you to the first paragraph –- sorry, the first sentence of the second paragraph in answer 10:

"Enbridge Gas Distribution's customer care costs for other years are not at issue in this proceeding and there is no customer care service arrangement in place between Enbridge Gas Distribution and CWLP beyond December 31, 2006."

If the Board reads that statement as anybody making clear that they were not going to produce information, then they are a more astute reader than I am.

The second point, apropos Ms. Sims' argument, is that it would be more compelling if all of the information had been produced at the same time.  But the confidential information did not come in until a week later.  And it was at that point that we were aware that, in fact, they were not going to produce this information.

     Apropos my friend Mr. Cass's points, let me first eliminate a straw man.  Mr. Cass says that what we're really trying to do is undo the 2004/2005 settlement agreement.  That's not true.  We don't intend to do that at all.

Secondly, Madam Chair, there seems -- and finally, there seem to me to be two fundamental and ultimately fatal conceptual flaws that underlie my friend Mr. Cass's submissions.

The first is that what happened in the earlier decision, the decision dealing with circumstances emerging from the PBR period, is determinative of the way we have to look at this issue forever.  The Board cannot be bound, should not be bound, as a matter of public policy, as a matter of carrying on its statutory obligations, to its reasoning in a particular set of circumstances arising from, albeit an unusual set of circumstances, which was the performance-based regulation period.  That's the first of the two fundamental conceptual flaws.

The second fundamental conceptual flaw is that the way that Enbridge Gas Distribution thinks about the issue determines relevance.  Because Enbridge Gas Distribution thinks about establishing fair market value solely through benchmarking, that that's the only way we can think about it, the only way you can think about it, the only way -- the way that should determine how we receive the evidence.  And its own witness, Mr. Louth, has said there are other ways of looking at this.  And this information that we are asking to be produced is in aid of another way of looking and determining fair market value.

Those are my submissions in response.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I know it's unusual, but I wonder if I could have five minutes to reply.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. Shepherd, although I may give Mr. Cass another opportunity if we do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  And Ms. Sims.

REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have four items, which I'll be brief.

The first is, no Accenture information has been requested in this matter and therefore I don't see that Accenture, in fact, even has standing here.  I have said nothing, but it seems to me that if you're not asking for their information, they have nothing to protect.  These are the financial statements of affiliates of EGD; nothing to do with Accenture.  They just do business with it.

The second thing is, much has been made of the consent to the response to CCC 192.  Let me just be clear:  The School Energy Coalition did not consent.  At the time the consent was given by others, School Energy Coalition had not seen the response and so could not have consented.  And we have every bit as much right to see that document and use it in our cross-examination as my friend Mr. Warren.  So, whether or not Mr. Warren consented is irrelevant.

Third, my friend Mr. Cass talks about reopening 2004 and 2005, and my friend Ms. Sims says information for 2004 and 2005 is not relevant to the 2006 rate case.  With the greatest of respect to both of them, and with respect to Mr. Cass I'm particularly surprised, this is a cost-of-service hearing.  The whole essence of cost of service is, you look at the facts you know, the historical year, and you bring it forward to the test year through the bridge year to see what the reasonable number is for the test year.  That's what we do.  Of course you need the 2004 numbers.  Otherwise what's your basis for the 2006 numbers?

And, finally, Mr. Cass makes a big deal out of the 133 decision, and he highlights a lot of stuff which is very useful, but I'd like to bring you to two things that are -- three things that are not highlighted in that material.

Paragraph 502 of that material talks about the fact that the Board went through, in detail, the CWLP pro forma profit and loss to determine what their return would be and decided that there was overcharging because the return was too high; and, indeed, notes two paragraphs below that that's one of the tests of reasonableness that they applied.

Then we go to paragraph 533, which is a couple of pages along, and notes with respect to ECSI that the reason why the Board doesn't have to look at 2001 and 2002 is because the returns on equity in those years was less than the Board-approved rate of return. 

So, far be it from me to put words in Mr. Cass's mouth, but what we were doing was looking at what the Board did in 2003.  It seems pretty clear, they looked at how much the profit was offshore.


Finally, and this is the critical item, in 536 the Board said, in paragraph 536:  Until there's open tendering, here is what we direct you to provide:

"The cost‑of‑service details for the affiliate  service providers." 


Now, what are cost‑of‑service details?  In our submission, the answer is, in a cost‑of‑service proceeding, you provide historical, bridge, and test‑year information, and you provide source documents with respect to the historical information.


Those are our submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Sims, would you like to add anything?


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MS. SIMS:

MS. SIMS:  Just very briefly on Mr. Shepherd's point that he was not in attendance on Motions Day.  I just want to note that the issue of whether CCC 192 was adequately addressed was an issue for a motion on Motions Day, and it was resolved on Motions Day.  Whether Mr. Shepherd wasn't in attendance or not, it wasn't an issue before the Board that day, and if Schools had a position on that, then they should have been in attendance.


Secondly, just to reiterate Mr. Cass' point, if the 2004 and 2005 costs were a matter that was settled as per agreement, then it's those costs that should be relevant going forward.  And those are my two points.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Sims.  Mr. Cass, any final word?


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:

MR. CASS:  Yes, just a couple of things, Madam Chair.  Thank you.


At the outset of Mr. Shepherd's second submission, he made an assertion that he didn't think that Accenture should even have standing here today.  I'm sorry, I haven't got the transcript with me, but I have a distinct recollection, when we were debating last week this motion that the Board is now hearing, Mr. Shepherd made some submissions about how, in his eyes, CWLP and ECSI were more or less the same as Enbridge Gas Distribution.  


I distinctly recall him saying that Accenture would be different if they had an issue.


I won't go through all of his points.  I just wanted to come back to what he said about the Enbridge Gas Distribution fiscal 2003 case.


The fundamental point I was trying to make, Madam Chair, and perhaps it didn't come through clearly, is that even in the context of that case, with its much broader inquiry by intervenors into transferred efficiencies, the Board did what it did with no more information for the test year than this Board has.  And Mr. Shepherd's assertion that the Board there was contemplating some need for historic and bridge‑year information from affiliates, I think, is not correct because, in that case, there was not at that time enough ‑‑ the companies were so newly established, there was not that sort of information to do that type of analysis.


So, in my submission, it's quite wrong to think that what the Board was talking about there is what intervenors are saying they need to do here.  It was not the analysis that was done in that case.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  Mr. Warren, you have the absolute final word.


MR. WARREN:  Blessedly for everyone, I have no words.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Just give us a moment to ‑‑ 


MR. DeVELLIS:  Pardon me, Madam Chair.  I'm sorry, if I may just make a brief rely to Mr. Cass' ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Oh, Mr. DeVellis, I think we had round two and you might have jumped in at that point.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Oh, I beg your pardon.


MS. NOWINA:  I would prefer to end it at this point.


If you'd just give us a moment to determine how long we're going to take to decide this issue.

[The Board confers]


MS. NOWINA:  We will retire until 12 o'clock, at which time we'll get together.  We hope we'll have a decision for you at that point.  If we don't, we will have a time for when we will have a decision for you.  We will now adjourn. 


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:49 a.m. 

--- On resuming at 12:00 p.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

     We have made a decision on this matter.

    
DECISION ON MOTION:

MS. NOWINA:  The Board directs that the financial statements for CSI and CWLP for 2004, 2005, and 2006, be filed in accordance with the established confidentiality undertaking in this proceeding.  The statements for 2004 should be the audited statements, if available.  The statements for 2005 and 2006 should be on a pro forma basis.  By "pro forma basis," we mean that they should be in the same presentation as the 2004 statements.

The Board's reasons are as follows.

With respect to the issue of the Motions Day discussion, the Board notes that it did not make any determination with respect to production of this information, and therefore is not of the view that this issue has been disposed of previously.

Further, the Board agrees that the answers provided to CCC 192 were ambiguous.  

Regardless, the Board must determine at this time what information is needed to set just and reasonable rates.

     On the issue of relevancy, the Board finds that the financial information in question is relevant in the determination of the reasonableness of EGDI's customer care costs.  The Board has made it clear, in past decisions, that the costs to a related service provider to provide a service to the utility is a relevant consideration in a situation where there has been no public tender.

The Board agrees with Mr. Shepherd that in a cost-of-service examination, historical year, current year, and test year information are required.  The Board finds that the evidence requested in this instance is fully consistent with the approach adopted in RP-2002-0133.

While the Board has sympathy for the intervenors' concerns with the prevalence of confidential filings, the Board is of the view that the material requested may contain commercially sensitive information which should be treated as confidential.  If parties object to that treatment once the material has been filed, they may wish to address this issue in due course.

     The Board orders that the information be provided by no later than 4:45 today.  

Ms. Sims, you stated that you had contact with ECSI, and we ask that you inform ECSI of the Board's decision.

     Are there any questions on our decision?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, can we just ask, through you or your colleague, whether we have to be here to get this documentation or whether we can make some other direct arrangements.  We had expected that it was going to be delivered at the time of your decision, that they would bring it with them.  That's all I'm asking.

MS. NOWINA:  Well, if they have brought it with them, then that is by 4:45 today and that would work.  

Ms. Sims? 

MS. SIMS:  I'll need to confer with my client because I don't have the information available here, this instant.  But we'll be able -- I believe we'll be able to deal with the 4:45 deadline.  And if I can get it here before counsel break, then I'll try and do that.

MS. NOWINA:  Does that answer your question, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess we can make arrangements with Ms. Sims off-line to get it directly, those of us who are going back to our offices.

MS. NOWINA:  Or electronically?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  We will resume, then, on Thursday,

September 22nd, to examine the customer care costs.  We will resume at 9 o'clock.  With that, the hearing is adjourned for today.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:06 p.m. 
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